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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

TIM KRANSON, Case No.: 11-cv-05826-Yi&

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFF 'SREQUEST FOR
DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND FINDING NO
VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA BUSINESS AND

VS. PROFESSIONSCODE SECTION 17200ET SEQ.

Plaintiff,

FEDERAL EXPRESS CORPORATION,

Defendant.

Plaintiff Tim Kranson (“Plaintiff”) filed this dsability discrimination action against Defenc
Federal Express Corporation (“l2adant” or “FedEXx”) in stateourt on October 28, 2011. What
remains of this case is an unfair competitiorincland request for declacay judgment that a polic
of FedEXx isper seunlawful based upon evidence regarding itdiagpon in one partiglar instance.

Having carefully considered the papers siitad and the pleadings in this action, the
witnesses’ testimony and entire trial record, tlgrarents of counsel during trial proceedings, an
the reasons set forth below, the Court her@munies Plaintiff's request for declaratory judgment;
andFINDs that, based on the lack of evidence preskrite FedEx policy assue cannot be deem
an unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business practice under California Business and Profession
section 17200et seq(“UCL” or “Section 17200").

l. BACKGROUND

A. Procedural

Plaintiff alleged nine claims against FedEk} disability discrimnation under the Fair
Employment and Housing Act (“FEHA”"); (2) faite to provide reasonable accommodation; (3)

failure to engage in the interactive procdd3;violation of the California Family Rights Act
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(“CFRA"); (5) retaliation; (6) failure to preventstirimination; (7) wrongfutermination in violation
of public policy; (8) violation of ta UCL; and (9) declaratory relie{Dkt. No. 1.) As part of the
Complaint, Plaintiff sought a ¢&rmination of whether FedExfaedical leave of absence policy
constitutes an unlawful businessgiice under the UCL, and a juditdeclaration that the FedEx
policy violates FEHA. (Compl. at Prayer for Relief 1 5.)

The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (Dkt. Nos. 26-27, 39.) The C
issued an order on October 1, 2012 granting sumjudgment to Defendant on Plaintiff's CFRA
claim, but denying the cross-motions on all ottlaims. (Dkt. No. 90 [“Summary Judgment
Order”].)

On October 9, 2012, the Court commenced a jur tiihe jury was asked to reach a verg
on the claims for: disability discrimination; failut@ engage in the interactive process; failure to
provide reasonable accommodationaliation; failure to prevent disicnination or retaliation; and
wrongful termination in violatiomf public policy. The claims foriolation of the UCL and reques
for declaratory judgment were not presented éojiiny. On October 15, 2012, the jury rendered

verdict. (Dkt. No. 128.) Specifically, the jurgndered the following verdict on each claim:

Claim Verdict
Disability Discrimination Plaintiff
Failure to Engage in the Interactive Process Defendant
Failure to Provide Reasonable Accommodation Plaintiff
Retaliation Plaintiff
Failure to Prevent Discrimination or Retaliation Defendant
Wrongful Discharge in Violatioof Public Policy Plaintiff

The jury awarded Plaintiff $40,373.00 in past leatnings and $341,824.00 in future lost earning
(Id.) No damages were awarded for non-economic losses.

Following the verdict, the parties’ filed posiatrbriefing on the remaining claim for violati
of the UCL and Plaintiff's requestif@a judicial declaration. The pai@itially filed briefs that did

not contain any citation® the trial record. eeDkt. No. 134.) Pursuant to this Court’s Order
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Requiring Supplemental Post-Trial Briefing, the Court required that the parties revise their
previously-filed briefs to include such references. Thereafter, the parties filed the following b

e Plaintif’'s Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Declaratory Judgmg
Violation of the Business and Professions Code Section 17200, et seq. (With Citat
Added) (Dkt. No. 141 [Plaintiff's Brief]);

e Defendant Federal Express Corporation’'siBed Opposition to Plaintiff's Post-Trial
Briefing Regarding Plaintiff's Claim for Violation of Biness and Professions Code
8 17200 and Request for Declaratongdment (Dkt. No. 139 [“Defendant’s
Opposition™);

e Defendant Federal Express CorporatidR&vised Post-Trial Briefing Regarding
Plaintiff's Claim for Violation of Business and Professions Code § 17200 and Requ
Declaratory Judgment (Dkt. No. 1ffDefendant’s Brief"]); and

e Plaintiff’'s Opposition to Defendant’s Post-Trial Briefing Regardiaintiff's Claim for
Business and Professions Code § 17200 agdi€&t for Declaratory Judgment (With
Citations Added) (Dkt. No. 142 [“Plaintiff's Opposition™).

B. Factual

This trial in this action focused on Tim Kigon, who began working at FedEx in May of 1

as an at-will employee. (Transcript of ProcegditiTr.”), Vol. lll, 477:11-13, 511:8-11.) He be(
as a material handler @akland, California. I¢., 477:14-23.) In 1994, he was promoted to the
position of part-time ramp agent; i897, his position became full-timeld(, 478:18-479:2.)

On February 2, 2011, Plaintiff suffered ajuiy while offloading an aircraft. I¢., 511:15-14

Trial Ex. 213.) Plaintiff laceratekis left toe, broke his middle toand ruptured a telon in his right
arm. (Tr., Vol. lll, 484:3—6, 484:22-485:2.) His irigs required hospitalitian, surgery on his arl
and having his toe sewn back togethkt., 485:3—486:8.) Plaintiff had merous medical visits to

follow up on his injuries. $ee generallyfr., Vol. IV, 566-579.)

! The previous version of Dkt. No. 142 (withoutations) is marked as a pending motion in ECF
Because this Order resolves the revised briefings submitted by the parties, this Order terming
No. 133.
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At the time of Plaintiff's injury, FedEX ltha policy entitled “1-8 Leave of Absence
(Medical)—Merit Houly.” (Trial Ex. 12 [the “Policy”].f The “Position Retention” section of the

Policy provided as follows:

Positions for employees on medical leaeenain available for a minimum of 90
calendar days or expiration of FMLA [Fdyand Medical Leavéct], whichever is
longer. At the end of 90 days anahaustion of FMLA, if applicable, the
employee’s manager may replace the pasiof the employee on leave or allow the
position to remain unfilled. This decisishould be based on departmental operating
requirements. In no event is any employee entitled to more than one position
retention period per medicllave of absence period.

If a decision is made to fill the pogih, the manager must notify the employee in
writing of that decision. The position may not be filled earlier than the 91st day or
prior to exhaustion of FMLA coverage.

(Trial Ex. 12 at 43

Plaintiff received a le#tr from Kathleen Cline, the kHuan Capital Management Program
Advisor for FedEx, dated February 9, 2011. (Tr., Vol. IV, 561:3-16 (KrangbnYol. 11l, 386:11—
17 (Cline); Trial Ex. 3.) Té letter stated that:

We will hold a position open for you for adst ninety (90) calendar days and the
exhaustion of any eligible FMLA entitlementf you are unable toeturn to work
within this time period, we may need teplace you in youposition in order to
maintain service to our customers. If your position is replaced, you will report to the
District HCMP Advisor and your work locat will be charged to the District Office
for administrative purposes unyibu are released to return to work full duty. If your
position is no longer available, and you are theleased to return to work (other
than TRW [Temporary Return to Work]), yadll be given an opportunity to submit
unlimited JCA’s [Job Change Applicatidndor a 90 calendar day period or the
remainder of your medicaleave, whichever is lessand receive preferential
treatment for lateral or lowdevel positions for which you are qualified to perform

% The copy of the Policy received Trial Exhibit 12 states thtite policy was last revised on
September 5, 2010 and reflects a print-out dat@/@B/2011” in the bottomight-hand margin.

? The California Family Rights Act closely pagidl the provisions of the FMLA, 29 U.S.C. secti
2601,et seq. The CFRA provides that “it shall be anlawful employment practice for any emplqg
... to refuse to grant a request by any empleyidemore than 12 months of service with the
employer, and who has at least 1,250 hours of service with the employer during the previous
month period, to take up tatatal of 12 workweeks in any idonth period for family care and
medical leave.” Cal. Gov't Code § 12945.2(a).
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with or without reasonable accommodation. If you have not accepted a job by the
expiration of this period, your employment will be terminated.

(Trial Ex. 3.) Plaintiff spoke to Ms. Cline on théegghone on February 17 to inform her of a doc
visit. (Tr., Vol. IV, 566:6-56718.) Plaintiff signed an ackmdedgement on February 18, 2011
stating that he understodiae previous letter.|d., 562:23-563:2.)

The 90-day period beginning on Felbmu8, 2011 expired on May 10, 2011d.( 571:18—
572:1.) Over the course of the 90-day period,rifaicontacted Ms. Cline four times after his
medical appointments to infm her of his status.ld., Vol. lll, 442:16-443:1, 444:9-446:7, 449:1
451:6 (Cline)jd., Vol. IV, 565-579 (Kranson).) Ms. Ckmever contacted Plaintiff on her own
initiative to inquireas to his status.ld.)

On May 9, 2011, Plaintiff attendea medical appointmentld(, Vol. 1V, 572:3-10.)
Plaintiff's doctor, Dr. Stehr, did noelease him to work on that date&Se€Trial Ex. 6.) Plaintiff
denied at trial that he was not released to veorlay 9; according to Plaintiff, Dr. Stehr asked
Nurse Karen Plumb—who had been atiagdPlaintiff's medical appointmerits-whether a modifie
work schedule was available. (Tr., Vol. IV, 573:13—-2RIaintiff did not contact Ms. Cline after th
appointment to ask about a modified work schedui®, §74:14-23.)

On May 19, 2011, Plaintiff receivexhother letter from Ms. Clen (Tr., Vol. IV, 575:12—
576:3; Trial Ex. 4.) This lettdentitled “Status of Your Opelob”) stated that her “records
indicate[d] that [Plaintiff] ha[d] been on a medical leave of absence in excess of 90 ddysThé
letter continued that “[ijn order to maintain opevatl efficiency and servide our customers, it m
be necessary that we take steps to replace onalienyour position, based on operational necesy

(Id.) Plaintiff did not coract Ms. Cline in response to thiste. (Tr., Vol. IV, 576:4-12.) He

testified he was not concerndaloait losing his job at that timed(, 576:21-577:3) as he had spoke

recently to his manager, Reggie Wright, regarding the security of higljpb{6:13-20). He

understood as of May 19 that no action had beemtakeliminate his position and sent Ms. Cling

* Nurse Plumb attended Plaintiff's appointrreeah behalf of Sedgwick Claims Management
Services, Inc., the third-party atas administrator for FedEx, buteskid not have authorization to
communicate Plaintiff's medicabadition to FedEx—she only adviseedEx regardindis return td
work status. (Tr., Vol. IV, 574:25-575:8 (Kransoidl); Vol. IV, 647:20-648:13, 648:16—649:4,
671:24—672:1 (Plumb)d., Vol. Ill, 402:13-23 (Cline), 516:6—-17 (Kranson).)
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acknowledgment of her letterld(, 577:4-13.) On June 6, 2011, Dr. SteHeased Plaintiff to retu
to full work as of June 13, 2011. (Trial Ex.®;, Vol. IV, 578:20-579:11.) Plaintiff received
another letter dated June 10, 2011 that informedthat he was on a 90-day unpaid personal leg
seek a new position at FedEx.r.(Vol. IV, 583:9-13; Trial Ex. 7°) Plaintiff acknowledged
receiving this letter on Juri. (Tr., Vol. IV, 583:18-21.)

C. Relief Requested

Plaintiff seeks three categoriesrefief. First, Plaintiff eeks a judgment against Defendar]
“declaring that its policy that disabled employeesmedical leave may be replaced after they ex
ninety days of leave without anteractive processr reasonable acconadation is unlawful.”
(Plaintiff's Brief at 1;seePolicy,supra) Plaintiff argues the jury vdict in his favor for disability
discrimination and retaliation supports a declasappdgment that “a company policy that gives it
managers the authority to violate the law [herei REs unlawful.” (Plaintiff's Brief at 1.) Secon
Plaintiff seeks a finding by this Court that Defentlhas committed “numerous” unlawful, unfair,
fraudulent business practicesviolation of Section 17200.1d. at 1-2.) ThirdPlaintiff requests
restitution and injuntove relief under the UCLand attorneys’ fees pursuant to Business and
Professions Code section 17082 and CalitoCode of Civil Procedure 1021.9d.(at 2, 17.)

Il DISCUSSION

A. Plaintiff's Request for a Judicial Declaration (Declaratory Relief)

Plaintiff seeks declaratory relief pursuam28 U.S.C. section 2201 (“Section 2201” or
“Declaratory Judgment Act”), which provides tHRaln a case of actual controversy within its
jurisdiction, . . . any court of the United Statespmiphe filing of an appropriate pleading, may de
the rights and other legal relatioofsany interested party seekisgch declaration, whether or not
further relief is or could be sought. Any such deation shall have the foe and effect of a final

judgment or decree and shall be reviewable as sudm”obtain declaratory relief, an action mus

> Ms. Cline testified that the Position Retention settf Policy 1-8 was applied to Plaintiff. (Tr.,
Vol. lll, 392:3-22, 391:10-13.)

® Section 2201 is subject to certain examps that are notpplicable here.
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present an actual case or controyevghin the meaning of Articlell, section 2 of the United Statg
Constitution and fulfill statutory jurisdictional requiremen@Gov’t Employees Ins. Co. v. Diz4l33

F.3d 1220, 1222-23 (9th Cir. 1998). A distcourt must also be satied that “entertaining the

action is appropriate[,]” whicls a discretionary decisionid. at 1223;Public Affairs Assocs., Inc. V.

Rickover 369 U.S. 111, 112 (1962) (Supreme Court expigithat while the Declaratory Judgme
Act authorized courts to make a declarationigits, “it did not impose a duty to do so”).

“Declaratory relief is appropria ‘(1) when the judgment will serve a useful purpose in
clarifying and settling the legal relatis in issue, and (2) when it will terminate and afford relief
the uncertainty, insecurity, and controsiegiving rise to the proceeding.Guerra v. Sutton783
F.2d 1371, 1376 (9th Cir. 1986) (quotiBdbrey by Bilbrey v. Brown/38 F.2d 1462, 1470 (9th Ci
1984));DeFeo v. Procter & Gamble C#831 F. Supp. 776, 778 (N.D. Cal. 1993).

In determining matters of “serious publicnoern[,]” particularly where a party seeks a
discretionary declaratory judgment, a court shanéke such decision “on an adequate and full-
bodied record.”Public Affairs Assocs369 U.S. at 112-13. Courts maxyercise their discretion tq
refuse granting declaratory reliefdaeise the state of the record igdequate to supptahe extent o
the relief sought, or when such relief would not seryeirpose to clarify and tsle the legarelations
at issue nor afford relief from tlewntroversy faced by the partieGiannini v. Am. Home Mortgad
Servicing, Ing.No. C11-04489 TEH, 2012 WL 298254, at(M.D. Cal. Feb. 1, 2012) (citingnited
States v. Washingtoi59 F.2d 1353, 1356 & 1357 (9th Cir. 1985)).

Plaintiff seeks a “declaratianf his rights regarding the poy which was relied upon to
terminate his employment of twenty-one years.laifRiff's Opposition at 3.)Plaintiff explains that
the Policy is unlawful because required CFRavie—which Defendant cosrds it provided—is by
one part of Defendant@bligations under FEHA.1d.) Aside from CFRA, FEHA also includes

requirements that Defendant engage in the interactive pfaesprovide a reasonable

" Cal. Gov't Code section 12940(n)opides that it is unlawful for aamployer “to fail to engage in
timely, good faith, interactive process with an employeapplicant to determeneffective reasona
accommodations, if any, in response to a requesefsonable accommodation by an employee
applicant with a known physical anental disability.”

S

from

-

e

a
Dle
or




United States District Court

Nartharn Dictrirt nf Califarni

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

accommodatichto a disabled employee, such as Plainté#fen when job-protected leave expites
(Id. (emphasis supplied).) In sum, Plaintiff arguesshentitled to a declaration that the Policy “is
unlawful because it allows Fed[Efa terminate an employee, as it did with [him], at the ninety ¢

markwithout even considering whether a further accommodation is avagaloleeasonable.”ld. a

4 (emphasis supplied) (further enggiizing that the Policy is unlawful regardless of the fact that|i

“hypothetically[] allow[s] a longer p@d of retention” because “iflaws Fed[E]x to contravene th
FEHA when it sees fit”).)

Defendant responds with numerous arguments ady declaratoryjudgment cannot be
granted for Plaintiff. First, while Plaiiff requests that the Policy be deenpeal seunlawful, he hag
failed to specify the terms ofatdeclaratory judgment, including athsuch judgment would declaf
and which portions of the Policy are unlawf@Defendant’s Opposition at 1, 4.)

Second, Defendant argues insufficient evidence eixigapport a finding of the impact of
Policy on any employee other than Plaintifotably, Plaintiff didnot bring a claim for
discrimination based on a disparatgact and the Court did not take evidence of the impact of
Policy on others. I{. at 1, 3.)

Third, Defendant argues that the evidence atghalved that Plaintiff himself failed to initi
the interactive process, as reflected by theigend favor of Defendant on that claimld(at 1-2.)

Fourth, the evidence showed that a reasenattommodation could not have been offerg
because no one—not even Plaintiff or his doctor-akhew much longer he would need on leavy
of when the 90-day period @b-protected leave expiredld(at 2-3.) While Defendant concede;
that extending job protected leave can be a reasonatdmawdation, it must appear likely that tf

employee will be able to return to his positetrsome time in the foreseeable future.

8 FEHA imposes upon employers an affirmativeydotmake reasonable accommodations for a
known physical or mental disability of an emopée, provided the accommodation does not crea
undue hardship to the employer’s operationsl. Gav't Code 8§ 12940(m). “Where a necessary
accommodation is obvious, where the employee requests a specific and available reasonabl
accommodation that the employer fails to provide, or where an employer participates in a go
interactive process and identifi@seasonable accommodation but fealprovide it, a plaintiff may
sue under section 12940(m)Nadaf-Rahrov v. Neiman Marcus Group, Iri&6 Cal. App. 4th 952
983 (Cal. Ct. App. 2008).
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Fifth, the Policy itself does not “automatically’tteinate employees after 90 days, as Plaintiff

argues. (Defendant’s Opposition3at Rather, it explicitly statethat the decision should be mady
based on departmental operational requiremamigh was confirmed by testimony from Kathlee

Cline that the Policy was applied on a case-by-cass.bbfgre, Plaintiff received more leave thal

1%

n

NS

required by CFRA (84 days) and more than is coptated by the Policy (90 days). Defendant also

highlights the jury’s verdict in its favor on the faguto prevent discriminatioor retaliation claim a
indicating there was a lack ofidence that the Policy itself was metasonable or inappropriatdd.(
at 2.) On balance, a “litany gariables contributed to Plaintifftermination” and the Policy itself

cannot be deemed unlawful on this recornd. &t 3.)

-

D

Ultimately, the Court agrees with Defendant that a judicial declaration here will not determil

a right of the parties thdtas not already been resolved by thelve. First, the jury did determine
that Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff on tha<af his disability, thait failed to provide a
reasonable accommodation to him, and, in so dogtgliated against hirmd wrongfully terminate
his employment. However, the jury also found ®laintiff did not requesthat Defendant make a
reasonable accommodation for his physical conditich shiat he would be able to perform the
essential duties of his job, and,sash, found against Plaintiff on theirh for failure to engage in {
interactive process. The jury fhar found for Defendant on the clainattit had failed, allegedly, t
take reasonable steps to prevestdmination or retaliation. Audicial declaratin here will not
serve anysefulpurpose that further clarifies the legalations between Piatiff and Defendant.
Guerra 783 F.2d at 137@ilbrey by Bilbrey,738 F.2d at 147@eFeq 831 F. Supp. at 778. All
claims have been resolved.

Second, Plaintiff no longer works for FedEx and ¢hsrno current or future relationship th

is uncertain or in need of resolution. For hismgful termination, among other things, Plaintiff wi

receive a total of $382,197 from Defendai light of the jury verdictthe parties’ legal relationsh

does not require clarification. Ndlg, Plaintiff has not specified whatarification is needed, why |i

is needed, nor the potential harm to Plaintifftttnay result if the Cotielects not to issue a

declaratory judgment.
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Third, the declaration that Plaintiff see&xtends beyond identifying “his [own] rights
regarding the policy” to declare tleatire Policy unlawfubs it relates to atlisabled employeesSé

Plaintiff's Opposition at 2, 8declare “unlawfulness of Policy 1-8'®laintiff's Brief at 1 (“policy tha

disabled employees on medical leave may be repkftedthey exceed ninetjays of leave withouf

an interactive process or reasbl@gaaccommodation is unlawful”). at 11 (Policy “grants Fed[E]X
managers the authority to effectively opt outled FEHA's requirements and eliminate a disable
employee’s position once ninety days hawe without regard to providing reasonable
accommodation”)id. at 13 (“any policy which, on its face, allows managers to break the law is
unlawful”); id. at 17-18 (“declare Fed[E]x policy 1-8 unlawhecause it violates the FEHA").) S
a sweeping declaration, howeveruissupported by the record.

As to this issue, the only relevaestimony during trial was as follows:

Q. Now, in -- in your position, you besw aware of employees within your

geographical area who haween out on medical leave for more than 90
days; is that right?

A. Yes. That is correct.

Q. And some of those employees aliyuaeturn to their old positions, even
though they have been out more than 90 days; isn’t that true?

A. That's true.

Q. You're -- are you aware of employesace January of 2011 other than Mr.
Kranson who were absent for more tfhdays due to medical reasons but
were allowed -- were not allowed return to their position?

A. Yes.

Q. That’s happened to several employees, hasn't it?

A. Yes.

Q. And so those employees would fpgt on an unpaid leave of absence per
FedEXx policy?

A. Correct.

Q. And that unpaid leave of sdnce would go for another 90 days?

A. That is correct.

Q. And the policy is if they don't findnother position within FedEx in that

period of time, they would be terminated from employment?
A. That is true.

(Tr., Vol. Ill, 394:18-395:17.)
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This testimony states nothing more than #et that an unidentified number of employees
have been terminated from employment under thieyPafter being unable to return to work after
days, while others actually returned to work a@i@rdays. As to those employees who did not re
to their positions, there is no contgxovided to explain the circumstaas of their disabilities nor t
context of their leave. Moreover, while Plaihéxplicitly seeks a declaration that the Policy is
unlawful because it allows Defendant to terate an employee “without even considering”
reasonable accommodations, this testimony speaks way to whether Defendant engaged in th
interactive process with these employees oreffehem a reasonable accommodation. For the
to assume that neither of these obligations wereand that Defendant dmbt “even consider[]” an
accommodation—and thus that the Policy wakwfully applied to them—requires the Court to
speculate beyond the testimony in the record.

Similarly, the Court cannot conclude based on tia¢ testimony or the face of the Policy t
the Policy itself mandates an outcome that iswful under FEHA, nor that is forecloses complig
with the duty to accommodate or engage in theacte/e process. The Policy, in fact, states as
follows: “At the end of 90 days and exhaustiorFMLA, if applicable, the employee’s manageay

replace the position of the employee on leave owatlie position to remaianfilled. This decision

should be based on departmentalrapeg requirements.” (Trial EX2 (emphasis supplied).) Whi

the Policy clearly identifies 80-day timeframe, it is permissiue allowing that the employee’s
position be replaced or remain unfilled.

Plaintiff's characterizations of the Policy cadiifor “automatic” termination or requiring th
an employee be “100% healddtk evidentiary support.SeePlaintiff's Brief at 1, 9.)

The Court made this exact pointthe Summary Judgment Order:

® Significant evidence at trial suppsPlaintiff's argument that theerson who decided not to fill
Plaintiff’'s position (Guy Capriulojelt constrained to follow thBolicy. (Tr., Vol. I, 287:20-289:7
(“After 90 days, the job’s displacesi | followed that policy, and it . . . never had anything to dd
Mr. Kranson. . . . Once that time expired, dwlt fill the job.”); 290:11-291:7.) However, this
testimony does not change the i@t the Court cannot determiwbether Defendant failed in its
FEHA obligations with regard tany other employethe Policy may have aped to. Those issues
were not presented todlCourt during trial.
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Policy 1-8 itself is disct@nary, providing that “[&] the end of 90 days and
exhaustion of FMLA, if applicable, the employee’s managayreplace the position

of the employee on leave or allow the piosi to remain unfilled.” “This decision
should be based on departmental operateggiirements,” which necessarily takes
into consideration case-specific circumstances such as the employee’s department ar
operating requirements as oathime. Other language Folicy 1-8 further confirms

that the application of the Policy is discretionarnyes-“[i]f a decision is made to fill

the position.”

(Summary Judgment Order at 20 (citations omitted; emsipa original).) The Court also stated
based on the summary judgment briefing and evidantteat time, “Plaintiff has not presented an
evidence showing that Policy 1-8ger seunlawful as applied to all employees, or, for that matte
even a single other employee. The record is insufficient for the Court to make the declaratio
Plaintiff seeks.” Id.) Plaintiff was thereforen notice leading up to andrttughout trial that it was
the Court’s perspective that theught-after declaration would requsbBowing the application of th
Policy to other employees. Plaintiff chose noglicit any meaningful testimony that could have
supported the declaration he seekaving failed to do so, the Court finds that the record is
inadequate to support the relief sougBiannini, 2012 WL 298254, at *4ublic Affairs Assocs36
U.S. at 112-13.

For the foregoing reasons, the CdDENIES Plaintiff’'s claim for dechratory relief and requyg
for a judicial declaration thahe Policy is unlawful.

B. California Business and Proéssions Code Section 17200

The UCL provides that “unfair competition sdhmean and include any unlawful, unfair or
fraudulent business act or practice.” Cal. BuRr&f. 8 17200. Plaintiff argsethroughout his brie
that the evidence at trialpports a finding that the Policy violates the UCL hssiness practice
(Plaintiff's Brief at 1-2, 14, 15, 16; &htiff's Opposition at 1, 2, 4, 5.)

As a threshold issue, Plaintiff's failure toegent evidence regarding the application of thg
Policy to other employees prevents the Countnffinding, as Plaintiff argues, that the Policy
constitutes a business practice. Plaintiffs citdder v. Nestle U.S.A., Inc109 Cal. App. 4th 779,
789 (Cal. Ct. App. 2003) armilch v. Superior Courtl22 Cal. App. 4th 339, 401 (Cal. Ct. App. 2(

for the proposition that discrimitian in violation of FEHA is amnlawful employment practice that

may be enjoined under the UCL. (Plaintiff's Brief at 15-16.) Hb&g court did hold that age
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discrimination in violation of FEHAnay be enjoined under the UCL, ailth citedHerr on this
issue. However, iklerr, the evidence presented at triapported a continuoysattern of age

discrimination against the plaintiff, who had sougtany opportunities for advancement but had

beer

rejected each time for a younger employee. 109 Cal. App. 4th at 783—-786. Moreover, the emplo

in Herr had explicit policiesavoring “young people.”ld. at 783. Alch, on the other hand, was a g
action. There, the court held trtUCL claim could be alleged basen allegations of a pattern o
practice of age discrimination in violation of HE against hundreds of television writers. 122 C
App. 4th at 400-01. In neithéterr nor Alch did the court hold that a single instance of
discrimination against a single plaintiff constitutdsuainess practicéor the purposes of the UCL.
Those cases dealt with what this Court can only describe as rampant and entrenched policie
discrimination.

As discussed with regard to the declarajadgment claim, the Court cannot find that the
Policy is an unlawfubusiness practicthat violates the UCL. Onithbasis alone, the evidence is
insufficient to establish that the Policy has begpliad unlawfully as a praice in contravention of

FEHA, with the exceptiothat the jury found that Defendadtiti not comply with certain FEHA

lass

al.

obligations with respect to Plaintiff. MoreoveretRolicy on its face, while perhaps running a rigk of

violating FEHA in a manner simitdo Plaintiff's situation, isiot mandatory in nature. The
possibility that Plaintiff's situation repeats or reehitself is not sufficient to find that the Policy

itself is an unlawful business practite.

Plaintiff's arguments that the Policy is “unfair” under the UCL fail for the same reasons.

Plaintiff broadly seeks to protetconsumers” and other similarkituated FedEx employees from

9 The Court notes that while the Policy (Trial Ex) i2seven pages, Plaifitiails to specify which
portions of the Policy are unlawful. Although théekeant language of the Policy is the “Position
Retention” section, Plaintiff's request for declaratory judgment and UCL claim are broadly ph
and imply that he seeks to have the entire Polknyatted unlawful and in violation of the UCL. In
addition, Plaintiff identifies—as padf the “Policy"—language that @s not to exisin the Position
Retention section of Tridx. 12 itself, but ratherppears in letters sent by MSline to Plaintiff.
(Plaintiff's Brief at 16 (“The policy further statéisat after the ninety day period a position may b
replaced ‘in order to maintagervice to our customers.¢pmpareTrial Ex. 12with Trial Exs. 3 &
4.) The lack of clarity regandg the scope of the “Policy” isxather reason that the Court cannot
provide the requested relief.
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FedEXx’s Policy. (Plaintiff's Oppadtson at 4-5.) Plaintiff seems twe arguing that the permissive
Policy is unfair simply because itllaws Fed[E]x to fail to engage ilne interactive process and f:
to reasonably accommodate a disabled emploffaintiff's Brief at 15)—however, the Policy
equally allowed Defendant to comply with all FElAligations and the Policy at the same time,
there is no basis for this Court to determine wag or another what the practice was. There is
likewise no basis in the record fitre Court to assume that amnfair business advantage” exists
because of the Policy. l@mtiff’'s Opposition at 4seePlaintiff's Brief at15-16.) It would be
entirely speculative for the Cduo conclude that any amount‘@ésources” was saved because
Defendant implemented the Policy against disabled employees rathésxpboming or providing
reasonable accommodation” to them. (Plaintifigef at 16.) MoreoverRlaintiff presented no
evidence regarding the business practices of unidentified “competitors.”

Plaintiff argues the Policy is fraudulent becatreembers of the public” and/or “Fed[E]x’s

il

and

employees [and] prospective employees” get “the isgom that [the Policy] complies with the law.”

(Plaintiff's Brief at 16.) More sgcifically, “the policy is confusig and misleading because memf
of the public do not know that due to the polksd[E]x will replace alisabled employee who
exceeds ninety days of medical leave without aggne or attempt to engage in the interactive
process or provide a reasonabteommodation.” (Plaintiff's Oppdin at 5.) The Court is not

persuaded by this argument because it assume) thregmbers of the public have the ability or a

reason to view the Policy, and (ii) their understagaf the Policy differs from its implementation|.

However, no basis exists for the Court to assuraettie members of the public even have acces

Policy. Rather, the general public is wholly unfanniliath Defendant’s employment practices ar

DErS

S the
dis

not directly affected by them. As is evident frors hriefs, Plaintiff actuallgeeks to protect disabled

employees from the application of the Policy, notgbeeral public. Regardless of whether Plair]
was confused by the Policy, Plaintiff presentecenilence that any employees or prospective
employees generally were likely to be deceived into believing FedEx “complie[d] with the law]
For the foregoing reasons, the CdDENIES Plaintiff’'s claim for violation of the UCL.
Because the Court finds that the record doesupgat that the Policy violates the UCL as a bus

practice, it declines to address anyliertarguments raised by the parties.
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[I. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court her&snies Plaintiff's request for declaratory
judgment; andFINDS that, based on the lack of evidencéhia record, the FedEx Policy at issue
cannot be deemed an unlawful, unfairfraudulent business pra@ under the UCL.

This Order terminates Dkt. Nos. 1335eg supra n.1.)

T 1SS0 ORDERED.

Dated: June 10, 2013 4 b"' € 4 E 2 '>§ 5\’

(/ YVONNE GONZALEZ ROGERS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
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